## UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-19-2008

# Chapman v. Chapman Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34614

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	NATURE OF THE CASE	
	B.	COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW 2-4	
	C.	STATEMENT OF FACTS 4-10	
	D.	COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL 10	
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL		
	A.	DID THE COURT ERR IN EXCLUDING MATTHEW MECHAM'S OFFER OF PROOF	
	B.	DID THE COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 18, 20 AND 24	
	C.	DID THE COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 14 AND 15	
	D.	WAS THE JURY VERDICT CONSISTENT WITH THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TIME OF TRIAL	
IV.	ARGUMENT 11-25		
	A.	THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE EXPERT WITNESS OPINIONS OF MATTHEW MECHAM	
	B.	THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 18, 20 AND 24 18-21	
	C.	THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY PURSUANT TO PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 14 AND 15	
	D.	THE JURY VERDICT WAS NOT CONSISTENT WITH APPLICABLE LAW NOR SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE	
V.	CONC	CONCLUSION	

i

## TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u> <u>PAGES</u>		
<u>Carroll v. Otis Elevator Company</u> , 896 F.2d 210, 211 (7 <sup>th</sup> Cir 1999) 14		
Evans v. Park, 112 Idaho 400, 401, 732 P.2d 369, 370 (Idaho App 1987)		
Garcia v. Windley, 144 Idaho 539, 164 P.3d 819 (Idaho 2007) 22, 24		
Holzheimer v. Johannesen, 125 Idaho 397, 401,871 P.2d 814, 818 (Idaho 1994)		
Kolln v. St. Luke's Regional Medical Center, 130 Idaho 323, 327, 940 P.2d 1142, 1146 (Idaho 1997)		
<u>Kopf v. Skyrm</u> , 993 F.2d 374, 377 (4 <sup>th</sup> Cir 1993) 14, 15		
Mooney v. Robinson, 93 Idaho 676, 471 P.2d 63 (Idaho 1970) 25		
<u>Newberry v. Martens</u> , 142 Idaho 284, 127 P.3d 187 (Idaho 2005) 22, 23		
Patterson v. Thomas, 118 Ga App. 326, 163 S.E.2d 331 (Ga Ct App 1968) 20, 21		
Springer v. Pearson, 96 Idaho 477, 531 P.2d 567 (Idaho 1975) 25		
Watson v. Navistar International Transportation Corporation,121 Idaho 643, 666, 827 P.2d 656, 679 (Idaho 1992)18		
RULES		
Rule 702, IRE		
Rule 703, IRE		
Rule 704, IRE		
OTHER AUTHORITIES		
29 Federal Practice & Procedure, Evidence § 6264 (updated through 2007) 15		
1 McCormick on Evidence § 12 (6 <sup>th</sup> Ed) 14		
7 Wigmore Evidence, Chadbourn Rev, §1923, pp. 31-32 (1978) 14		

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The instant case is a claim for relief brought by the appellant (plaintiff below) to recover for injuries sustained by the appellant while on the premises of the respondents (defendants below).

This area of the law is usually labeled as "premises liability." This is an area of the law where legal distinctions and limitations are drawn based upon the status of the person coming on the premises of another. However, the usual elements of negligence such as proof of breach, actual cause and legal cause are all applicable once the appropriate duty has been "found."

In the instant case the appellant (plaintiff below) had the status (at the time of the event) of being a licensee inasmuch as she was a social guest of the respondents at the time of the event in question.

#### **B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

This instant case was initiated by the appellant filing a Verified Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial on February 1, 2006. (R. p. 6). The complaint generally alleges a negligent failure to warn on the part of the respondents in failing to warn the appellant of the dangers and unsafe conditions existing on and in their premises and a failure to maintain their premises in a safe and reasonable manner together with an allegation that one of the respondents was negligent in her negligent attempt to "set" the right arm in the shoulder socket of the appellant after the appellant sustained a dislocated shoulder. The verified c complaint also sets forth a claim of negligent design of the respondents' premises including the negligent placement of a rug on a tile floor within the premises. The complaint set forth the injuries sustained by the appellant as a result of the fall that she sustained while in and on the respondents' premises. The complaint of the appellant was answered by the defendants on or about July 27, 2006. (R., page 14).

The respondents moved the trial court to exclude the expert testimony of the appellant's biomechanical expert, Matthew Meacham. The court entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order granting in part, denying in part, the defendants' Motion to Exclude Expert Witness on or about May 18, 2007. (R. p. 20). The court concluded that the plaintiff's expert, Matthew Meacham, could not testify that the bathroom created a dangerous condition and offered as rationale for this conclusion "that the probity value of Mecham's conclusion as to the dangerousness of the bathroom is outweighed by its prejudicial effect"... and that thee ultimate conclusion that Mecham draws does not aid the trier of fact to understand the evidence." (R. p. 25).

The court ruled that the expert witness, Matthew Mecham, could provide to the jury the scientific data he had collected; his measurements, the photographs taken, and his examination of the rug and its backing and "any testimony relating to the flooring conditions and their effect upon the rug." But, "the ultimate conclusion, however, is squarely within the competence of the average juror." (R. p. 25). This ruling of the court resulted in the final investigative report of Matthew Meacham being modified. The modification was the excision from Matthew Mecham's report that the bathroom and the bathroom rug of the respondents constituted a dangerous and hazardous condition. (R. p. 34, Exhibit K). The

other result of this ruling by the court was that Matthew Meacham did not testify to the jury as to the hazardous and dangerous condition of the bathroom and of the bathroom rug at time of trial. (*See* Tr. pp. 61-79).

The appellant did make an offer of proof of Matthew Meacham's intended testimony to the court. (Tr. pp. 61-78). This offer of proof was refused by the court. (Tr. pp. 77-78).

It should be noted that the initial attempt at trial was thwarted by a mistrial occurring based upon the inappropriate introduction into *voir dire* of the question of insurance coverage. The respondents' attorney moved for a mistrial which motion was granted by the court. (R. p. 32).

The second attempt at trial was on August 8, 2007. As noted in the Minute Entry, the trial proceeded from August 8 to August 10, 2007. The jury returned a verdict (on special verdict) including that the respondents (defendants below) were not negligent, or if negligent, that their negligence was not the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries. (R. p. 37). The court then entered a judgment on special verdict dated August 10, 2007. (R. p. 40).

The appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal on September 20, 2007, and later filed an amended Notice of Appeal. (R. pp. 53-57).

#### **C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

At the time of the incident, the appellant (hereinafter Kay) was fifty-three (53) years of age, (Tr., p. 109, ll. 23-25), and was a longtime resident of Idaho Falls, Idaho. (Tr., p. 108, ll. 19-23). She was a registered nurse (Tr., p. 110, ll. 1-2) and had been for eighteen years. (Tr., p. 110, ll. 3-5).

Kay entered the residence of the respondents (hereinafter, Vondel and Becky) on

March 19, 2005. Vondel and Becky's residence is located in Firth, Idaho. (Tr., p. 112, ll. 15-18; l. 20). Kay had been invited to the premises by reason of a surprise birthday party which was to be given for a mutual friend, Chad Williams. (Tr., p. 112, ll. 21-25). Previous to the party, Kay had received a written invitation and had also received oral notice of the surprise birthday party. (Tr., p.113, ll. 1-9). Kay had read the written invitation to the surprise birthday party for Chad Williams. The written invitation had specifically instructed that this was a "bring your own bottle" party, and if necessary, the invitees should bring sleeping bags, blankets and pillows for a "sleep over" if you were not able to drive home safely. (Tr., p. 113, ll. 15-20)

In preparation for the surprise birthday party, Kay procured a pedicure and a manicure, and had bought fruit for a "fruit bowl" to take to the surprise birthday party. (Tr., p. 114, II. 5-17). Prior to leaving for the surprise birthday party, Kay had visited with a family friend, Greg Mickelsen, at her home. (Tr., p. 116, l. 18 – p. 117, l. 10). Mr. Mickelsen testified that Kay was not under the influence of alcohol before she went to the birthday party. (Tr., p. 227, ll. 1-9).

For the occasion, Kay had selected some shoes that had three inch heels. Kay had worn the shoes before and had no problem wearing them and testified that the shoes were not "unstable." (Tr., p. 117, ll. 23-24 - p. 118, l. 6).

Kay arrived at Vondel and Becky's residence at approximately 4:15 p.m.-4:20 p.m. (Tr., p. 118). Vondel saw and observed Kay arrive at his house. (Tr., p. 119, ll. 19-24). Kay denies drinking prior to coming to the party. (Tr., p. 121, ll. 7-11). While at the party, Kay d did have "two or three swallows of an alcoholic drink", (Tr., p. 121, l. 15 – p. 122, l. 7) and

observed at least three other people drinking at the party. (Tr., p. 123, ll. 19-22).

Kay then found it necessary to locate a bathroom. Kay cannot remember having entered this bathroom before March 19, 2005, the date of the event (Tr., p. 124, l. 25 – p. 125, l. 2) and noted that it was the "most unusual bathroom I've ever seen." (Tr., p. 179, l. 24 – p. 180, l.1). It was necessary for Kay to be directed to the bathroom by Becky. (Tr., p. 125, ll. 3-11). Before Kay entered the bathroom, Becky did not supply any instructions or warnings regarding the bathroom. (Tr., p. 125, ll. 12-18). Specifically, Becky did not say anything about the new rug that had been placed in the bathroom for the party. (Tr., p. 125, ll. 19-23). Becky did not tell or instruct Kay how to use the bathroom. (Tr., p. 125, l. 24 – p. 126, l. 1).

Kay testified to the jury that upon entering the bathroom her attention was on the toilet and nothing else. (Tr., p. 126, ll. 15-21). Kay testified that she did what she would normally do in this situation and did nothing wrong. (Tr., p. 127, ll. 1-21). Kay testified upon crossexamination that she did not notice the rug and did not know whether the rug was attached to the floor or not attached to the floor and did not know anything about the backing on the rug. (Tr., p. 151, ll. 13-22). Kay assumed that she was safe in the bathroom. (Tr., p. 189, ll. 1-3). Kay stated at the time of her trial testimony that she would have been more cautious if she had known about the situation of the slick floor and the rug, (Tr., p. 188) and noted that the rug slid out from under her and that she was then pitched forward into the recessed shower. (Tr., pp. 176-177).

Kay did not know of the recessed shower until using the facilities and directly facing the recessed shower. (Tr., p. 191, ll. 7-9) (*See also* Tr., p. 152, ll. 6-9).

As a result of the rug slipping out from under her and her pitching forward, Kay fell into the recessed shower and struck her body which resulted in severe and painful injuries, most notably to her right shoulder. (Tr., p. 135, ll. 1-4). A couple of days after the event, photographs were taken by Mr. Mickelsen of Kay which depicted the injuries that she had sustained in Vondel and Becky's residence. (See Exhibit C; Tr. p. 137, ll. 10-13). The injuries also included bruising and abrasions to her knees, legs and right wrist. (See Tr., pp. 138-139). The shoulder injuries resulting from the fall required surgery by an orthopedic surgeon at Mountain View Hospital on March 30, 2005. (Tr., p. 140, ll. 6-19). Kay underwent physical therapy for a period of eleven weeks as a result of the injuries she sustained and the subsequent surgery and was unable to work for a period of nine to eleven weeks. (Tr., p. 141, ll. 10-15 – p. 144, ll. 9-11). Kay required help in her daily routine for six (6) weeks after the fall into the shower (Tr., p. 150 - p. 151). Kay's medical expenses were \$21,425.93 as a result of her fall into the shower (Supplemental R. P. 54). Prior to her fall into the recessed shower, Kay had not sustained any previous injury to her right arm or shoulder. (Tr., p. 151, ll. 9-10).

At trial, Kay's expert witness, Matthew Mecham, testified that he was a forensic engineer that specialized in accident reconstruction and biomechanical evaluations. (Tr., p. 25, ll. 10-13). Mr. Mecham has also had extensive experience in shoulder and knee injuries. (Tr., p. 26, ll. 6-21). Mr. Mecham testified as to his extensive educational background and credentials, (Tr., p. 26-30) which qualified him to testify in the instant case. Some of Mr. Mecham's credentials that especially qualified him to testify in Kay's trial were being an accredited accident reconstructionist, a certified medical investigator and his background and abilities in safety inspections and evaluations particularly in slip and fall and trip and fall analysis. (Tr., pp. 28-30). Mr. Mecham reviewed with the jury the information and data that he relied upon in giving his testimony and opinions. These included interrogatories, request for productions, deposition transcripts of the principals, and his actual visit to the accident location where he took measurements and photographs. (Tr., pp. 34-36).

Based upon Mr. Mecham's examination of the premises, he established that there was no shower door in the bathroom, that the distance from the lip of the toilet to the recessed shower was 24 inches. (Tr., p. 35). Mr. Mecham also established that the distance from the toilet floor level to the bottom of the shower recess was 14 inches. (Tr., pp. 43-46).

In re-creating the conditions at the time of the event, Mr. Mecham opined that when Kay was seated on the toilet, it was approximately 8 - 8 1/4 inches from the tip of Kay's shoe to the drop-off into the shower. (Tr., p. 44, ll. 15-19). Mr. Mecham noted that there was no barrier or edge protection between the toilet area and the shower area. (Tr., p. 46, ll. 1-12). Mr. Mecham noted upon cross-examination that Kay's position that lead to the fall, or drop off into the recessed shower, could not have been replicated if there had been a door or a wall between the toilet area and the recessed shower. (Tr., p. 83).

Critically, Mr. Mecham observed and opined that a person upon entering the bathroom would not be aware of the recessed shower area. (Tr., p. 47, ll. 10-15; p. 103, ll. 16-19).

Mr. Mecham observed that there was tile in the toilet area (Tr., p. 47, l. 20) and established that the rug that he examined was the same rug that was on the bathroom floor on March 19, 2005, and had been inspected by Mr. Mecham previously. (Tr., p. 48, ll. 10-15)

Mr. Mecham stated to the jury that the rug would increase the probability of a fall, and that this rug did contribute to the fall in this instance. (Tr., pp. 49 - 50, l. 16).

Mr. Meacham's observations of the rug indicated to him that the rug was light weight and that the backing of the rug was of a nylon type, and it was not a non-slip backing. Mr. Meacham also observed that the rug was not attached to the floor. (*See* Tr., p. 49, l. 17 - p. 50, 1. 19). The rug's fiber itself was 2 inches in length and would be of the type that would wrap around shoes and become snagged on a part of the clothing. (Tr., p. 50, l. 22 - p. 51, ll. 5-10).

Mr. Mecham observed and opined that the shoes that were worn by Kay on the day of the event were not defective and did not increase the potential for the fall. (Tr., p. 52, ll. 23 – p. 53, l. 1).

Mr. Mecham opined that the contributing factors to the fall were as follows:

1. A sudden drop-off;

2. The rug;

3. There was no edge protection; nothing to stop a person from pitching forward; and

4. The close proximity of the drop-off and the toilet. (See Tr., p. 53, ll. 2-9).

Mr. Mecham told the jury that the solution to fix the bathroom was to either fill in the shower or run a wall or door between the toilet and the shower area. (Tr., p. 54, ll. 10-23). The monies that would be needed to cure or remedy the defective condition of the bathroom would be in the area of \$500. (Tr., p. 55, ll.1-12).

Mr. Mecham stated to the jury that Kay's injuries were consistent with Kay's explanation of the fall (Tr., p. 57 - 58) and that the photographs taken of Kay two days after the fall collaborated this conclusion. (See Exhibit C).

Mr. Mecham testified that if the area that Kay had fallen onto (or into) had been level, her injuries would have been less severe. (Tr., p. 60, ll.17-24). Mr. Mecham stated that all of his opinions were, to a reasonable degree, of scientific and biomechanical probability. (Tr., p. 61, ll. 1-6).

After Mr. Mecham delivered his testimony that conformed to the boundaries established by the court's pre-trial order excluding portions of his opinions, the plaintiff made an offer of proof that the bathroom configuration, the bathroom floor and the bathroom rug, were a significant factor in Kay's fall and that these items formed a hazardous condition "that was a proximate or contributing factor to the cause of her fall and the severity of Kay Chapman's injuries." (This offer of proof is found in the transcript at pages 61-63.) Mr. Mecham stated that these opinions were based upon a reasonable degree of scientific and biomechanical probability. (Tr., p. 63, ll. 8-11). The court refused this offer. (Tr., p. 77-78).

#### **D. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS ON APPEAL**

As noted in the course of proceedings below, the appellant (Kay) filed a Notice of Appeal and an Amended Appeal from the jury's and the lower court's verdict and order on verdict.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

### A. DID THE COURT ERR IN EXCLUDING MATTHEW MECHAM'S OFFER OF PROOF ?

- B. DID THE COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 18, 20 AND 24 ?
- C. DID THE COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY WITH PLAINTIFF'S PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 14 AND 15?
- D. WAS THE JURY VERDICT CONSISTENT WITH THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TIME OF TRIAL ?

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

## A. THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE EXPERT WITNESS CONCLUSION OF MATTHEW MECHAM.

As indicated, *supra*, Matthew Mecham was qualified as an expert in the areas of forensic engineering and of biomechanical engineering. Matthew Mecham, by reason of his credentials, his inspection of the bathroom, and of the rug, was competent to testify in this matter in regard to accident reconstruction and to biomechanical evaluations including safety inspections. (*See* Tr., pp. 23-30). Mr. Mecham complied with Rule 703 of the Idaho Rules of Evidence in that the facts or data upon which he relied in order to render opinions were exhaustively explained by Mr. Mecham. (See Tr., pp. 39-45). It can be fairly concluded that from a review of the Trial Transcript that there was no objection to the knowledge, experience or expertise of Mr. Mecham in these identified areas.

The standard of review for this court in deciding this issue is whether the trial court abused his discretion in excluding Mr. Mecham's testimony. *See* e.g., <u>Kolln v. St. Luke's</u> <u>Regional Medical Center</u>, 130 Idaho 323, 327; 940 P.2d 1142, 1146, (Idaho 1997).

What were the opinions that were excluded by the court? The opinions as to the bathroom configuration, the bathroom floor and the bathroom rug, were, as delivered by Mr.

Mecham during his offer of proof as follows:

My opinion is that it was a hazardous condition, and it did – it was a proximate or contributing factor to the cause of her fall. (Tr., p. 62, ll. 19-21).

Further, Mr. Mecham refined that opinion in stating:

I believe that it did pose a danger and a hazard, and it was a contributing factor to not only the fall, but the severity of Kay Chapman's injuries. (Tr., p. 63, ll. 5-7).

Mr. Mecham also posited that his opinions were based upon a reasonable degree of

scientific and biomechanical probability. (Tr., p. 63, ll. 8-11). The exclusion of Mr.

Mecham's testimony as outlined, supra, was fatal to the Kay's case at the time of trial. There

are multiple reasons upon which this statement may be made. A review of the jury

instructions that were given or refused would emphasize the glaring absence of the opinion

of the case expert.

For example, Plaintiff's Requested Instruction No. 12 and the Court's Instruction No.

13 stated to the jury the following:

A witness who has special knowledge in a particular matter may give his opinion on that matter. In determining the weight to be given such an opinion, you should consider the qualifications and credibility of the witness and the reasons given for his opinion. You are not bound by such opinion. Give it the weight, if any, to which you deem it entitled.

The instruction cautions the jury that they are not bound by "such opinion." This would blunt any prejudice. If the jury disagreed with Mr. Mecham, they are advised that they have the right to do so.

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