### UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-16-2008

# Chapman v. Chapman Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34614

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff, Kay Chapman, was invited to a surprise birthday party for one of her old boyfriends at the home of the defendants, VonDel and Becky Chapman, husband and wife. (Tr., p. 168, Ll. 5-25). While at defendants' home, plaintiff fell while using the bathroom and injured her shoulder. Plaintiff had been to the defendants' home once before, but it was not certain whether she had visited the bathroom on that occasion. (Tr. p. 166, Ll. 3-25, p. 167, Ll. 1-25, p. 168, Ll. 1-4).

The surprise birthday party was organized by Shawna Williams, a mutual friend of the both the plaintiff and defendant, Becky Chapman. Shawna is the one who sent out the invitations and made the arrangements. (Tr. P. 256, Ll. 6-12). The plaintiff brought alcohol with her to the party. There was some dispute at trial as to whether she had alcohol to drink before she arrived, but the plaintiff's story was that she only had a little to drink after arriving at defendants' home and she was not under the influence of alcohol when she went into defendants' bathroom. (Tr. p. 121, Ll. 12-25, p.122, Ll. 1-7, p.170, Ll. 12-25, p.171, Ll. 1-19, p. 174, Ll. 8-25, p. 175, Ll. 1-9). There was testimony from and independent witness, Audra Burgener, that within 15 or 20 minutes of plaintiff's arrival at the party, and before plaintiff went into the bathroom, plaintiff was talking in a loud voice, and using inappropriate language. (Tr. p. 323, Ll. 10-25, p. 324, Ll. 1-2, 15-25, p. 235, Ll. 9-14). However, neither of the defendants were aware of how much plaintiff drank because defendant, Becky Chapman, as the hostess, was busy preparing food and working in the kitchen, and the defendant, Vondel Chapman, spent much of the time in his garage retreat watching television. (Tr. p. 262, Ll. 2-16, p. 286, Ll. 10-25, p. 287, Ll. 1-11).

Defendant, Becky Chapman, bought a new bathroom rug for the party and placed it in the bathroom. It was a typical rug like many other rugs that she had used in her bathroom over the years. (Tr. p. 240, Ll. 7-10, p. 200, Ll. 1-8, p. 215, Ll. 17-25, p. 216, Ll. 1-5).

When the plaintiff walked into the bathroom she could see the toilet, the step down shower, the tile floor and the rug. She claims that her heal caught either in her pant leg or slipped on the rug, and she fell into the sunken tub/shower area. She asserted that she would have been more careful had the defendants told her that other people had fallen in that bathroom. (Tr. p. 126, Ll. 15-21, p. 176, Ll. 9-25, p. 177, Ll. 1-18, p. 178, p. 179, p. 180, p. 181, Ll. 1-18, p. 186, Ll. 12-25, p. 188, p. 189, Ll. 18-21, p.191, Ll. 15-25, p. 192, Ll. 1-12).

After it was discovered that the plaintiff was hurt, defendant, Becky Chapman, drove plaintiff to the hospital in Idaho Falls in the plaintiff's car. The hospital emergency room record said that the plaintiff was intoxicated. (Exhibit I, Tr. P. 172, Ll. 21-25, p. 173, p. 174, Ll. 1-10). The plaintiff injured her shoulder when she fell and had substantial medical expense as a result of her fall in defendants' bathroom.

Defendant, Becky Chapman, had grown up in the subject home, it having been built by her parents in approximately 1963, when she was in the fifth grade. Even when her parents were quite old they used the toilet and shower in the subject bathroom. (Tr. p. 239, Ll. 19-25, p. 240, Ll. 1-10). After her parents passed away and Becky was married, she and her husband moved into her parents home and have been there every since. (Tr. p. 197, Ll. 8-17). The bathroom in question has not been changed since the home was built by Becky's parents. It was built for the

convenience of her parents so that they could have a step down tub/shower, all in one. (Tr. p. 234, Ll. 3-25, p. 235, Ll. 1-10).

Over the years the defendants had enjoyed entertaining and had many social events and many people of various ages at their home and to their knowledge no one had ever been injured in their bathroom, except for the plaintiff. (Tr. p. 256, Ll. 2-5, p. 249, Ll. 13-25, p. 250, Ll.1-25, p. 251, Ll. 1-25, p. 252, Ll. 1-25, p. 253, Ll. 1-25, p. 254, Ll. 1-25, p. 255, Ll. 1-18). However, about twenty (20) years ago one of defendants' social guests came out of the bathroom laughing and announced that he had fallen in the bathroom. He said nothing about why he fell and there was no injury. (Tr. p. 210, Ll. 6-25, p. 216, Ll. 14-25, p. 217, Ll. 1-16).

There was no dispute at trial over the plaintiff's storey that she fell into the step down shower. Also, all her medical bills and records were admitted by stipulation. (R. pgs. 34-35). The only dispute at trial was whether or not the defendants were legally responsible for plaintiff's fall and resulting injury.

#### II. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING SOME OF THE TESTIMONY OFFERED THROUGH MATTHEW MEACHAM.

The standard for reviewing a trial court's rulings regarding admissibility of expert testimony is the same as that used in reviewing challenges to a trial court's evidentiary rulings, the abuse of discretion standard. In *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P. 2d 816, 821 (2000), this court defined its role as follows:

This Court reviews challenges to a trial court's evidentiary rulings under the abuse of discretion standard. (Citation omitted). These include trial court decisions admitting or excluding expert witness testimony, (Citation omitted); and excluding evidence on the basis that it is more prejudicial than probative, (citation omitted). Error is disregarded unless the ruling is a manifest abuse of the trial court's discretion and affects a substantial right of the party. (Citations omitted). To determine whether a trial court has abused its discretion, this court considers whether it correctly perceived the issue as discretionary, whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards, and whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason. (Citation omitted).

In the case at bar, the trial court issued a memorandum decision before trial on this very issue. (R. p. 20-27). It is impossible to read the trial court's memorandum decision and not readily see that the court understood that it was a matter of discretion it was considering, that it must act within the bounds of discretion consistent with legal standards and reach its decision by an exercise of reason. (R. p. 23). The trial court met that standard when it wrote its memorandum decision and again during trial when this issue was revisited. (R. p. 20-27). The trial court even took a recess to consider the issue before ruling on the question. (Tr. p. 74, Ll. 16-21; p. 76, Ll. 14-25; p. 77, Ll. 1-25; p. 78, Ll. 1-7).

It is not even arguable that the slight limitation the court placed on the testimony of plaintiff's expert, was a "manifest abuse of the trial court's discretion." Further, that limitation did not affect a substantial right of the plaintiff. The trial court granted the plaintiff wide discretion in presenting evidence in support of her case.

During discovery, the defendants had allowed plaintiff and her expert, Matthew Meacham, to visit their home and examine the bathroom. The defendant even supplied the very rug that was in place in the bathroom at the time the plaintiff fell so that it was there when Mr. Meacham visited. Mr. Meacham was allowed to take photographs and all of those photographs were allowed into evidence by stipulation. (R. p. 35, Exhibit Q). The photographs taken by Mr. Meacham showed what a person would observe entering the bathroom looking toward the toilet

and looking at the shower in front of the toilet. There was no evidence introduced at trial that the design of the bathroom violated any code, but the plaintiff's expert testified extensively about his observations of the bathroom, about the photographs he took, about how tile floors and rugs can be slick and about how if you were to fall into the sunken tile tub/shower and hit your shoulder it could cause physical injury, just like the injury plaintiff suffered.

Specifically, Mr. Meacham testified there were twenty-four (24) inches from the lip or edge of the toilet to the edge of the first step into the shower area, (Tr. p. 44, ll. 1-3) that from a safety standpoint he would have wanted edge protection between the toilet and the tub/shower, (Tr. p. 45, ll 16-25, p. 46, ll 1-12) that the rug did not have a good backing on it which could allow it to bunch up thus causing a potential risk or likelihood of a slip, trip or a fall, (Tr. p. 49, ll. 1-25 ) that the rug in question contributed to plaintiff's fall, (Tr. p. 49, ll. 1-25; p. 50, ll 1-18; p. 51, ll. 5-10) and that the sudden "drop off", as he described the steps down into the shower, was a significant contributing factor to the cause of plaintiff's fall. He further testified that all those matters were contributing factors to the accident, (Tr. p. 53, ll. 2-19) that plaintiff's injuries were consistent with the fall plaintiff had, (Tr. P. 57, ll. 23-25; p. 58, ll. 1-7) and that her injuries were worse because of the configuration of the bathroom. (Tr. P. 60, ll. 12-24).

However, there was no testimony from Mr. Meacham that he had special expertise about alcohol and the effect, if any, the consumption of alcohol may have on a person and how that person might react to a tile floor, a rug, steps down into a shower, or anything similar. He also denied experience with women's high heel shoes, like the plaintiff wore. (Tr. p. 95, Ll. 9-21).

Therefore, what more could have been achieved by Mr. Meacham also opining that he believed the bathroom posed a "danger" and a "hazard"? While he didn't use those exact words, he had already said as much. It became clear from the argument of plaintiff's counsel on that issue that plaintiff wanted those additional words to overcome what counsel perceived to be some kind of jury bias. However, the trial court quickly pointed out that there was no evidence of bias. (Tr. p. 69, ll. 3-11).

Respondents take issue with a repeated assertion made in plaintiff's brief at pages 12, 13 and 15. She makes the assertion that defendants' counsel was allowed to argue that plaintiff's expert did not conclude that the bathroom was dangerous or hazardous. None of the arguments of counsel to the jury have been made a part of the record on appeal. It is therefor, inappropriate to make an observation or statement of fact regarding argument of counsel, when no record of that has been provided. However, counsel for defendants remembers arguing to the jury that the testimony of plaintiff's expert showed how obvious any danger or hazard that existed in the bathroom was and would have been to the plaintiff herself had she used reasonable care for her own safety. That is substantially different than plaintiff's assertion, and was consistent with the evidence.

Frankly, there is a real question whether the testimony of Mr. Meacham was even expert testimony that should have been allowed at all. Any lay person can take measurements and photographs as he did; any lay person that is old enough to be on the jury will have had experiences with tile floors in bathrooms and rugs on tile floors and will also have had experience with tile steps. In fact, the Bingham County Court House steps were tile. There is

really nothing that Mr. Meacham testified to that required any expertise or specialized knowledge. His measurements didn't require any expertise; his photographs didn't require any expertise; his observations of the rug required no expertise; his observations of the tile floor required no expertise and his repeating what the plaintiff told him required no expertise. In reality he gave the jury nothing that they couldn't have received through a lay witness.

Therefore under IRE 702, the real question was whether Mr. Meacham had any scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge, that assisted the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine the fact at issue. Since Mr. Meacham's testimony was not scientific, technical or specialized, it should not have been admitted al all, let alone his opinions on the ultimate issue. If anyone was prejudiced by what Mr. Meacham was allowed to say, it was the defendants because he dressed lay testimony up in an "expert" package to give it more weight.

# III. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING THE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERED 18, 20 AND 24.

The standard for review of jury instructions given by a trial court is, as follows:

Whether jury instructions fairly and adequately present the issue and state the applicable law is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46,51; 995 P. 2d 816, 821 (2000). When reviewing jury instructions on appeal, this Court asks whether the instructions, as a whole, fairly and adequately present the issues and state the law. *Leslie, 138 Idaho at 305, 62 P. 3d at 1103.* If the Court finds the instructions adequately present the issues and state the applicable law, this Court will not reverse the trial court. *Leazer v. Kiefer, 120 Idaho 902, 902, 824 P. 2d 957, 959 (1951).* However, if this court does find the instructions are not factually or legally accurate, it will not reverse the trial court unless the instructions would mislead the jury or prejudice the complaining party. *Id.; see also Perry, 134 Idaho at 51, 995 P. 2d at 821.* 

# Sun Valley Potato Growers, Inc. v. Texas Refinery Corporation, 139 Idaho 761, 765, 86 P. 3d 475, 479 (Idaho 2004).

The question then is whether or not the trial court gave jury instructions that taken as a whole fairly and adequately presented the issues and the law of the case.

When one considers the instructions given by the trial court, Instruction 20, defining negligence, Instruction 21, defining proximate cause and Instructions 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26, on duties of land owners, it is clear that the court instructed the jury properly. The jury was instructed that the defendants, had a duty to exercise ordinary care towards the plaintiff, and that they had a duty to warn the plaintiff of any dangerous or defective condition that they knew about that plaintiff wouldn't have discovered using ordinary care. That is what the case was about and that is how the jury was instructed.

There was no evidence introduced at trial that the defendants had knowledge that something "probably would result in harm because of a dangerous condition of the premises" in fact the opposite was true. The evidence was that over the course of forty (40) years the bathroom had been used by an active family who had many social guests over those years but no one had ever been hurt in the bathroom. There was much ado made by the plaintiff about an event approximately twenty (20) years before when a visitor who had been drinking went into the bathroom and came out laughing saying that he had fallen. However, there was no evidence that he had fallen in the shower or that he had fallen in front of the toilet, slipped on a rug, or that he was injured. There was no evidence of any forewarning to the defendants that there was a danger that would not be known or observable to anyone entering the bathroom.

The thing that did come out loud and clear through the photographs taken by Mr. Meacham, was that anyone entering the bathroom would see the toilet, the tile floor, the rug and the step down shower. There was no evidence that because the rug was new that it created some new danger that would not have existed for the proceeding forty (40) years with the old rugs.

It would have been totally inappropriate for the trial court to have given plaintiff's requested instruction 18 as it had nothing to do with the evidence and it would have misled or at least confused the jury. Plaintiff's requested instruction 20 is clearly covered by Instruction 23 given by the court. Plaintiff's requested instruction 24 would have been senseless since there was no evidence of intentional or reckless conduct on behalf of the defendants. The instructions given by the trial court were completely fair to the plaintiff.

### IV. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY PURSUANT TO PLAINTIFF'S PURPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS NUMBERS 14 AND 15.

The plaintiff argues that there is some magic with her requested instructions 14 and 15 that just didn't happen with the trial court's instruction 21. However, the trial court's instruction 21 directly follows the language of this Court in *Garcia v. Winley, 144 Idaho 539, 164 P. 3d 819 (Idaho 2007).* This Court in *Garcia* ruled that the defect in IDJI 2.30.2 is the last sentence of the first paragraph, stating that it would have to be omitted in order for the instruction to be consistent with the removal of the "but for" language included in IDJI 2.30.1. That is exactly what the trial court did here. It gave IDJI 2.30.2 leaving out the last sentence of the first paragraph, the only sentence in that instruction that is inconsistent with the "substantial factor" test.

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